2008

Wasatch County v. Okelberry : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The trial court issued its ruling on October 23, 2008.¹ Okelberrys timely filed their notice of appeal on November 20, 2008.² The supreme court had jurisdiction under Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(j). This Court has pour-over jurisdiction under Utah Code § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

Although the appeal is timely with respect to the October 23, 2008, ruling, that ruling may not have been a final order. Based on the case of *Guisti v. Sterling Wentworth Corp.*,³

¹R. 676-668.

²R. 680-679.

³2009 UT 2, 201 P.3d 966.

decided after Okelberrys' appeal, it is arguable that Rule 7 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure required Wasatch County to submit an order implementing the trial court's ruling. Okelberrys is filing a separate motion addressing this potential jurisdictional issue.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the trial court found gates had been locked, did the court act contrary to the Utah Supreme Court's direction in finding the locked gates did not interrupt public use?

a. Standard of appellate review: Whether a trial court on remand correctly interpreted the appellate court's decision is a question of law. The appellate court applies a correction of error standard.⁴

b. Preservation below: Okelberrys argued below that a "locked gate is clearly an interruption" and that "it is the act of blocking, not the result, that is important."⁵

2. Did the trial court rule based on a misunderstanding of the law and thus abuse its discretion in holding that Okelberrys did not interrupt use by stopping persons who were using their private roads?

a. Standard of review: "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal interpretation of the Dedication Statute for correctness and its factual findings for clear error. But whether the facts of a case satisfy the requirements of the Dedication Statute is a mixed question of fact and law that involves various and complex facts, evidentiary resolutions, and

⁴*Amax Magnesium Corp. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 874 P.2d 840, 842 (Utah 1994).

⁵R. 630.

credibility determinations. Thus, an appellate court reviews a trial court's decision regarding whether a public highway has been established under the Dedication Statute for correctness but grants the court significant discretion in its application of the facts to the statute.”⁶ Where the court exercises its discretion based on a misunderstanding of the law, however, that constitutes an abuse of discretion.⁷

b. Preservation below: The issue was raised in Okelberrys’ Memorandum Opposing Plaintiff’s Motion for Entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.⁸

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Okelberrys’ motion to allow presentation of additional evidence addressing intent and other factors made relevant by the Utah Supreme Court’s decision?

a. Standard of appellate review: “Like the motion for a new trial on the ground of newly discovered evidence, a motion to reopen the case to take additional testimony is normally addressed to the discretion of the trial court, and its discretionary denial or grant of the motion will be interfered with by an appellant court only for abuse.”⁹

b. Preservation below: Okelberrys sought this relief in their motion for new trial for presentation of additional evidence.¹⁰

⁶*Wasatch County v. Okelberry*, 2008 UT 10, ¶ 8, 179 P.3d 768.

⁷*Gaw v. State*, 798 P.2d 1130, 1134 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

⁸R. 621.

⁹*Pozzolan Portland Cement Co. v. Gardner*, 668 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah 1983) (citation omitted).

¹⁰R. 616-614.

4. Did the trial court err in concluding that the maintenance of unlocked gates did not interrupt use of the road as a public thoroughfare?

a. Standard of review: Because the testimony concerning the maintenance of gates was essentially undisputed, the only issue for decision is a question of law. Review is for correctness.

b. Preservation below: This issue was raised in Okelberrys' Memorandum Opposing Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.¹¹

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

Utah Code § 72-5-104(1) (2006) is determinative of this appeal: "A highway is dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public when it has been continuously used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case & Course of the Proceedings Below

This is a civil case seeking a declaration that certain privately owned roads have become public under Utah Code § 72-5-104(1) (2006).

This is an appeal from the trial court's decision on remand. Wasatch County appealed and Okelberry cross-appealed from the original trial court decision in this case. The Court of Appeals decision on that appeal is reported at 2006 UT App 743, 153 P.3d 745, and the Utah Supreme Court opinion is reported at 2008 UT 10, 179 P.3d 768. A copy of the supreme court opinion is attached in the Appendix to this brief.

¹¹R. 627-622.

Wasatch County filed suit on August 24, 2001.¹² The case was tried in a bench trial from June 28-30, 2004.¹³ The trial court ultimately entered an order determining that the roads had become public¹⁴ but that the county was estopped from asserting an ownership interest in the roads.¹⁵ Wasatch County appealed, and Okelberrys cross-appealed. The Court of Appeals issued its opinion November 30, 2006, sustaining Wasatch County's appeal and rejecting the Okelberrys' cross-appeal.¹⁶ On Okelberrys' petition for writ of certiorari, the Utah Supreme Court reversed the court of appeals and remanded for further proceedings.

On remand, Wasatch County filed a motion for further findings.¹⁷ Okelberrys responded¹⁸ and filed a cross-motion for further findings.¹⁹ Okelberrys' motion included a motion for new trial or for leave to present additional evidence addressing the new test adopted by the supreme court.²⁰ The trial court held oral arguments on the motion on

¹²R. 10.

¹³R. 357-353.

¹⁴R. 424.

¹⁵R. 482.

¹⁶*Wasatch County v. Okelberry*, 2006 UT App 473, 153 P.3d 745, *rev'd*, 2008 UT 10, 179 P.3d 768.

¹⁷R. 605-597.

¹⁸R. 636-617.

¹⁹R. 616-611.

²⁰*Id.*

September 26, 2008.²¹ The court did not expressly rule on Okelberrys' motion for new trial or to present additional evidence, but issued a ruling on October 23, 2008, finding the issues in favor of Wasatch County.²²

B. Statement of Facts

The roads in question run across several thousand acres of rural, undeveloped property that is owned by the Okelberrys in Wasatch County. Ray Okelberry, his brother Lee Okelberry, and their father first purchased this property in 1957.²³ The Okelberrys ran a sheep business and bought the mountainous property in order to relocate their herds to a higher, cooler elevation.²⁴ Ray and Lee Okelberry ultimately bought out their father's interest in the land, and, after Lee decided to retire from the business, Ray's sons Eric and Brian Okelberry then bought out Lee's interest.²⁵ At the present time, Ray, Eric, and Brian Okelberry own the land in question and continue to use it in their own livestock operations.

The Okelberrys' property is crisscrossed by a series of unimproved dirt roads. A color-coded map of the properties in question was attached as an exhibit during the pretrial proceedings,²⁶ and, for convenience, is reproduced and attached as an exhibit to this brief.

²¹R. 667; Transcript of Oral Argument September 26, 2008.

²²R. 676-668.

²³Trial Transcript, June 30 at 61-62.

²⁴Trial Transcript, June 30 at 61.

²⁵Trial Transcript, June 30 at 62.

²⁶R. at 371.

Evidence was presented at trial indicating that the County has not done any work to improve the physical condition of the roads.²⁷ The evidence presented at trial also indicated that, due to weather, the roads are only open for travel from Mid-May or June through November of each year.²⁸ To the extent that these roads can actually be referred to as “roads,” the evidence showed that they are rough, steep, rocky, and often obstructed by naturally falling trees.²⁹

As indicated at trial, there are four ways in which the landowners have controlled access to the roads since 1957: (1) by granting permission to some people to use the roads, and then by expelling persons who were found on the roads without permission; (2) by maintaining a series of closed gates that cross each of the roads; (3) by periodically locking those gates; and (4) by posting no-trespassing signs along the roads.

Permission and Expulsion³⁰

From the time that the Okelberrys purchased the property, they treated it and the roads that crossed it as private ground that was subject to their control. One of the chief ways in

²⁷Findings of Fact, R. at 419, ¶4; Supplemental Findings, R. at 489, ¶2; Trial Transcript, June 28 at 25-26; Trial Transcript, June 29 at 57; Trial Transcript, June 30 at 80.

²⁸Findings of Fact, R. at 419, ¶5; Trial Transcript, June 28 at 61.

²⁹*See, e.g.*, Trial Transcript, June 28 at 285 (testimony of County witness Ed Sabey, describing recurrence of falling trees); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 97 (testimony of County witness Benny Gardner, describing the roads as “rough” and “steep”); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 238-39 (testimony of Shane Ford, describing roads as “rocky” and “rough”); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 26 (testimony of Brian Okelberry, describing need for yearly tree removal).

³⁰The evidence relating to this factor presented at trial appears to have been exclusive to the Okelberry roads, and does not apply to the West Daniels roads.

which the Okelberrys protected their private property rights was by granting permission to friends or neighbors to use the roads, and by expelling persons whom they found using the roads without permission. Ray Okelberry testified that as far back as 1957, he, Lee, and their father were granting permission—both orally and in writing—to friends and neighbors to use the roads.³¹ Brian Okelberry offered similar testimony regarding the Okelberrys’ attempt to limit access to these roads by granting or withdrawing permission.³² Brian testified that he and his family would routinely grant permission to people they knew to come up and “use the roads and to hunt” on their property.³³

Several witnesses supported the assertion that the Okelberrys had been controlling access to the roads by granting permission and then expelling non-permissive users. Bruce Huvard, a longtime friend of the Okelberrys, testified that he has been using the roads with their specific permission since 1966.³⁴ Mr. Huvard also affirmatively testified that, between 1966 and 1990, he was asked by the Okelberrys to “kick people off” the property if he came upon them and learned that they did not have permission to be there.³⁵ During one exchange at trial, Mr. Huvard testified about his role as follows:

Q: During this period of time from 1966 to 1990 do you know if other people obtained permission to use those roads?

³¹Trial Transcript, June 30 at 81.

³²See Trial Transcript, June 30 at 35-36.

³³Trial Transcript, June 30 at 35.

³⁴Trial Transcript, June 29 at 252, 261.

³⁵Trial Transcript, June 29 at 266.

A: They did.

Q: Do you know if other people used those roads that did not have permission?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you know if they were asked to leave?

A: When I was personally hunting there I would ask them to leave if they didn't have permission.³⁶

Mel Price similarly testified. He stated that he has been using the roads since 1974.³⁷ He also specifically stated that he has asked for permission to use the roads during every year since then, and then authenticated a permission slip that he had received from Ray Okelberry granting him permission to "access all of my private roads on my private land."³⁸ He further testified that his uncles and nephew have also received permission to use the roads from the Okelberrys, and that he had always understood that "a person needed permission to use the roads."³⁹

Jeff Jefferson testified regarding the permission/expulsion protocols as well. Mr. Jefferson started working for the Okelberrys on their property in 1977, and has worked there every summer since then.⁴⁰ Mr. Jefferson stated that the Okelberrys had a policy that when

³⁶Trial Transcript, June 29 at 256.

³⁷Trial Transcript, June 29 at 153.

³⁸Trial Transcript, June 29 at 163-65.

³⁹Trial Transcript, June 29 at 166.

⁴⁰Trial Transcript, June 29 at 130, 143.

one of their employees saw someone on the property, the employee was to approach the person, ask if they had permission, and then ask them to leave if they didn't have permission.⁴¹ In fact, Mr. Jefferson specifically testified that he had had to ask one of the County's witnesses, Mark Butters, to leave the property on two different occasions.⁴² As to the question of whether the expulsion policy was for the Okelberry roads and property, or whether it just applied to the Okelberry property itself, Mr. Jefferson was unequivocal that it applied to the property *and* the roads. On cross-examination, the following exchange occurred:

Q: You indicated that any time you saw people on the property you'd ask them to leave; is that correct?

A: That's correct.

Q: Is that any time you saw people driving on the roads?

A: Well, I'd ask if they, they had permission to be on there, 'cause I was informed that **it wasn't a public access**, you know, for people to be on there. So if they didn't have permission I would ask them to leave.

Q: When you say on there, do you mean on the roads or on the property?

A: Well, most of the time when people came on there they wouldn't stay on the road.

Q: So people you talked to were people that were off the road on property, is that what you're saying?

⁴¹Trial Transcript, June 29 at 141.

⁴²Trial Transcript, June 29 at 141.

A: No—I’d run into people like that **and on the road**. And I’d ask them if they’re supposed to be on there.

Q: Would you chase them down with your horse—

A: No.

Q: —or how would you talk to them?

A: Just as I was coming **up the road** I’d run into them. Try to do it nice, polite.⁴³

In further support of this assertion, Glen Shepherd testified that he has specifically asked for and received written permission from the Okelberrys to use their roads.⁴⁴ Similarly, Shane Ford testified that he and his extended family have routinely used the roads and the property, with specific permission from the Okelberrys for both.⁴⁵

Fences and Gates

At the time that the Okelberrys purchased the property in 1957, it was bordered by fences.⁴⁶ These border fences have remained in place throughout the Okelberrys’ period of ownership. It was undisputed that there have also been wire gates across the contested roads since at least 1957.⁴⁷

⁴³Trial Transcript, June 29 at 148-49 (emphasis added).

⁴⁴Trial Transcript, June 29 at 212, 220.

⁴⁵Trial Transcript, June 29 at 230-31.

⁴⁶*See, e.g.*, Trial Transcript, June 28 at 147 (testimony of James Bessendorfer); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 174 (testimony of Lee Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 62 (testimony of Ray Okelberry).

⁴⁷R. 672 ¶ 20 (“The Court finds that there were gates at the entrances to each of the roads from 1957 to 2004.”) See also, e.g., Trial Transcript, June 28 at 39, 43, 48, 62, 64

As indicated by the Okelberrys, the purpose of these gates was twofold. First, the gates were used as a means of controlling the movement of the sheep and cattle within the Okelberry property.⁴⁸ Second, the gates were also kept closed by the Okelberrys and their employees as a means of controlling vehicular and pedestrian traffic. In a pretrial affidavit that was filed with the Court, for example, Lee Okelberry testified that the family had attempted to control access to the roads through “fences and gates.”⁴⁹ At trial, Brian Okelberry also specifically testified that “one of the purpose[s] of the gates” was “to control vehicles from going up and down the roads,”⁵⁰ and then later expressed his belief that the gates had been a sufficient means of asserting private control over the roads:

Q: Based upon your recollection and experience up there, do you have an opinion whether those roads have been open to the public and have been used continually during these summer months?

A: Not–Not–In my time we haven’t opened them. We closed the gates and tried to put a little control on it.⁵¹

(testimony of Dee Sabey that there have “always” been gates); Trial Transcript, June 29 at 174 (testimony of Lee Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 24 (testimony of Brian Okelberry indicating that there are both internal “pasture gates” and external gates “at each place that [the roads] goes on and off West Daniels” land); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 62, 137 (testimony of Ray Okelberry).

⁴⁸See Trial Transcript, June 30 at 25 (testimony of Brian Okelberry); Trial Transcript, June 30 at 138 (testimony of Ray Okelberry).

⁴⁹R. at 192, ¶5.

⁵⁰Trial Transcript, June 30 at 25.

⁵¹Trial Transcript, June 30 at 43.

This assertion that there was a dual purpose for the gates was also backed up by Glen Shepherd, who at the time of trial had used the roads for 35 years and has been a neighbor of the Okelberrys for the past 14 years.⁵² At trial, Mr. Shepherd testified that the gates have been kept closed “as far back as [he could] remember” and that his understanding was that the gates were kept closed, in part, to restrict the flow of persons.⁵³ This assertion was also backed up by Jeff Jefferson, who worked as a rancher for the Okelberrys every summer from 1977 through 2003.⁵⁴ He testified the purpose of the gates was to control both the livestock and the public.⁵⁵

As for the West Daniels roads, the above testimony has obvious applicability to those roads with respect to the points at which Ridge Line runs onto and off of the West Daniels property. Additionally, testimony at trial also indicated that there were gates across Parker Canyon as well.⁵⁶

Locks on the Gates

The Okelberrys presented testimony that they have been locking the gates on a periodic basis. Admittedly, there was some question at trial regarding the frequency and

⁵²See Trial Transcript, June 29 at 208.

⁵³Trial Transcript, June 29 at 219.

⁵⁴Trial Transcript, June 29 at 130, 143.

⁵⁵Trial Transcript, June 29 at 135.

⁵⁶See Trial Transcript, June 28 at 46-47 (testimony of Dee Sabey that there were gates on Parker Canyon); Trial Transcript, June 28 at 278 (testimony of Ed Sabey that there were gates across Parker Canyon).

scope with which those gates have been locked. Ray Okelberry affirmatively testified, for example, that he had begun locking the exterior gates as early as 1958 or 1959, and that the interior gates within his property have been locked for approximately the past 20 years.⁵⁷ More importantly, Ray Okelberry testified that he had made a habit of locking at least some of the gates every year while the sheep were being moved.⁵⁸ This was supported by Mel Price. Mel Price began accessing the property in approximately 1972, Trial Transcript, June 29 at 154, and testified that the gates had “always been locked” as far back as he could remember.⁵⁹

Conversely, Brian Okelberry testified that, at least according to his memory, the exterior gates had only been locked since the 1980s,⁶⁰ while Lee Okelberry could not remember ever having personally locked the gates himself.⁶¹ Additionally, the County presented testimony from several persons who indicated that they had never encountered a locked gate.⁶²

In the initial set of findings, the trial court accepted Ray Okelberry’s contention that the gates were periodically locked while the sheep were being moved. The court thus found

⁵⁷Trial Transcript, June 30 at 135-37.

⁵⁸Trial Transcript, June 30 at 138-39.

⁵⁹Trial Transcript, June 29 at 160, 170.

⁶⁰Trial Transcript, June 30 at 54.

⁶¹Trial Transcript, June 29 at 196.

⁶²See, e.g., Trial Transcript, June 28 at 35, 40, 43, 48 (Dee Sabey); Trial Transcript, June 28 at 112, 119, 125 (James Bessendorfer).

that the Okelberrys have “locked those gates for periods of time” prior to “completely controll[ing] access” through constant locking in 1989.⁶³ On remand, the trial court reiterated the position, finding that Okelberrys had “locked some of the gates at some points between the 1950s and 1990.”⁶⁴

Signs

Finally, the evidence also indicates that the Okelberrys placed no trespassing signs along their roads as a means of informing the public that use was restricted. Ray Okelberry testified that he had started putting these signs up almost immediately upon purchasing the property in the late 1950s.⁶⁵ Other witnesses confirmed the existence of these signs throughout the relevant period. Bruce Huvard, for example, specifically remembered seeing the no trespassing signs up as of 1966.⁶⁶ Mel Price, who has been using the roads since the early 1970s, stated that there had been no trespassing signs posted along the roads as far back as he could remember.⁶⁷ Brian Okelberry similarly testified that there are signs on each of the boundary gates.⁶⁸ Jeff Jefferson also testified that “all entrances” were marked with a

⁶³Supplemental Findings, R. at 486.

⁶⁴R. 672 ¶ 24. The trial court concluded that this didn’t restrict travel on the roads. *Id.*

⁶⁵Trial Transcript, June 30 at 137.

⁶⁶Trial Transcript, June 29 at 257-58, 268-69.

⁶⁷Trial Transcript, June 29 at 160.

⁶⁸Trial Transcript, June 30 at 25.

sign stating “no trespassing or keep out.”⁶⁹ Evidence also indicated that the West Daniels roads were marked with no trespassing signs as well.⁷⁰

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