2008

Wasatch County v. E. Ray Okelberry, Brian  
Okelberry, Eric Okelberry, West Daniels Land  
Association, Utah Division of Wildlife Resources :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

B. Review of *Utah County v. Butler*

*Butler* is important to the case at bar because it shows that a landowner must have the necessary intent for an act to interrupt the public use of the road. Like the case at bar, *Butler* involved issues pertaining to the existence of gates, gates being locked at times, the placement of no trespassing signs, and allegations of people being asked to leave private property. *Butler*, 2008 UT 12, ¶5-6. Also, there were allegations of irrigation water and snow on the road at times making it impassable. *Id.* ¶ 5-6.

In *Butler*, the trial court found that the acts of locking gates, kicking persons off of the property, placement of signs, and using the road to deliver irrigation water did occur. *Id.* ¶ 6. However, the trial court also found that each of the claimed interruptions failed to disrupt continuous use, and specifically held that none of the acts which had occurred were intended to interrupt the use of the road by the public. *Id.* ¶ 16-17. In applying the standard established in *Okelberry*, the Court held that despite the fact that some actual interruptions were found by the trial court, the road was still dedicated to the public. *Id.* The Court held that the lack of the necessary intent when locking gates, placing signs, or delivering irrigation and the ejecting of persons from the property adjacent to the road rendered those acts insufficient to interrupt continuous use. *Id.*

In the case at bar, the Okelberrys presented evidence regarding some of the same facts found in the *Butler* case, namely the existence of gates, locking of gates, asking persons to leave the property, and the erection of no trespassing signs. (R. 672-673). However, this evidence was properly found by the trial court to either be unreliable or not credible, and lacking the necessary intent to interrupt the public use of the roads. Regardless, the Okelberrys' purported interruptive acts failed to satisfy the standard articulated in *Okelberry* and clarified in *Prisbrey* and *Butler*.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Find the Evidence of Locked Gates Prior to the Late 1980s or Early 1990s Credible

One of the issues argued in this case prior to remand was whether the trial court had made a finding that the gates across the roads at issue in this case had been locked prior to the late 1980s or early 1990's. After articulating the new standard of what would

constitute an interruptive act in this type of case, the Supreme Court noted that “factual questions remain as to whether and when such an event or events occurred.” *Okelberry*, 2008 UT 10, ¶19. This was clearly one of the factual issues to be determined on remand and as required the trial court resolved this issue.

In its Further Specific Findings the trial court clarified its earlier findings regarding locked gates by finding that there was no credible evidence of locked gates prior to the late 1980s or early 1990s. The trial court noted that the evidence of such an act as locking gates had to be credible in order to constitute an overt act. (R. 670). The trial court then made detailed findings of why the evidence of locked gates prior to the late 1980s or early 1990s was not credible. (R. 670). Those reasons included self interest of the witness and the fact that the evidence was contradicted by virtually all of the witnesses called by the Plaintiff or the Defendants. (R. 670). The trial court further clarified its findings by expressly holding that to the extent Ray Okelberry’s testimony contradicted the testimony of Lee Okelberry and Brian Okelberry on the issue of locking gates, the testimony of Ray Okelberry was not credible. (R. 670). Or stated differently, the trial court found that the gates were not locked prior to sometime in the late 1980s or 1990s, as testified to by Brian Okleberry and Lee Okelberry and supported by all of the testimony of Plaintiff’s witnesses. The trial court went even further and noted that any locking of gates that actually may have occurred lacked the requisite intent necessary to interrupt continuous use as articulated in *Okleberry* and clarified in *Butler*.

- D. For the Sake of Argument, Even if the Trial Court had Found Some Locking of Gates, Such Acts Lacked the Requisite Intent to Qualify as an Interruptive Act

Even if the trial court's Further Specific Findings could be construed to have found that the gates were locked at some time prior to the late 1980s, the trial court correctly held that such acts lacked the requisite intent to constitute an interruptive act. In the standard articulated by the Supreme Court in *Okelberry*, the first part of the test requires "[a]n overt act that is intended by a property owner to interrupt the use of a road as a public thoroughfare" *Okelberry*, 2008 UT 10, ¶ 15. Ostensibly, in order to intend to disrupt continuous use of road by the public, one must know that the road is being used by the public, know that the public use must be interrupted to stop the road from becoming public, and then act with intent to interrupt the public use.

The trial court specifically found that even if those acts claimed by the Okelberrys had taken place, they were not intended to interrupt the public use of the road. In fact, at trial one of the Okelberrys' arguments was that during the 1950s and 1960s and even into the 1970s there was not any use of the roads by the public. It would be impossible for them to intend to interrupt the use of the road by the public when they were not aware such use was even happening.

E. The Okelberrys' Sufficiency of Evidence Argument Must Fail

1. The Okelberrys Failed to Marshal the Evidence

Although not listed in their questions presented, the Okelberrys make a sufficiency of evidence argument in their brief with respect to the trial court's finding that they lacked the intent to lock the gates in order to interrupt the use of the road by the public. It is important to note that this argument presumes a finding by the trial court that the gates

were locked at some time at least every ten years. However, the trial court expressly found the evidence of locked gates as not credible. Nevertheless, for the sake of argument, even if the trial court had found from Ray Okelberry's testimony that he sometimes locked gates was credible, the Okelberrys' sufficiency of evidence argument must fail.

In *Chen v. Stewart*, 2005 UT 68, ¶ 53, the Supreme Court held, "In order to challenge a court's factual findings, an appellant must first marshal all the evidence in support of the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the finding even when viewing it in a light most favorable to the court below." This requires the party to present, in "comprehensive and fastidious order, *every scrap* of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists." *Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage*, 872 P.2d 1051, 1052-53 (Utah App. 1994) (citation omitted) (emphasis added). Where evidence is inadequately marshaled, the court is to assume "that all findings are adequately supported by the evidence." *Chen v. Stewart*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 19. In their sufficiency of evidence argument, the Okelberrys have failed to make any effort at marshalling. Therefore, this court should hold that the finding that the Okelberrys lacked the intent to lock the gates in order to interrupt the use of the road by the public is in fact supported by sufficient evidence on that basis.

2. There was Sufficient Evidence for the Trial Court's Holding on Intent

Even had the Okelberrys properly marshaled the evidence as required to argue that issue, the trial court was still correct in its finding that any such locking of gates lacked



the intent required under *Okelberry*. This can best be seen in the testimony of Ray Okelberry. At trial, the following testimony was given by Ray Okleberry:

A. The first gate, yes. That's the first gate I locked, Circle. I had the sheep ready to go and somebody left the gate opened and trespassed on the Forest Service. I brought them back and locked the gate.

Q. Now when you say the other gate, was that the gate that goes – The 1080 Gate, is that the one that goes onto the Ridge Line Road?

A. That's Right, and those big pines. I locked that. We had two bands of sheep, as I stated before. One was on the one side of that fence, the middle division fence, and one was on the other. It was my responsibility that, for the ranch and the Okelberrys, to get the sheep over there. I had had problems and I wasn't going to have any problems. I locked them.

(R.684 pg. 136). Ray Okelberry is stating that the reason he claimed to have locked some gates was so the sheep would not get out. It had nothing to do with interrupting the public's use of the road. The fact that such testimony of locking the gates is in direct contradiction to his earlier testimony that during those years he virtually never saw members of the public on these roads gives further basis for the trial court's finding that such evidence was not credible. (R. 684 pg 65-67). The lack of intent to close these roads to the public is further shown in the collective testimony of Ray Okelberry where he never states that he or his family was making an effort to keep the roads private. Even more telling is his statement that once they started selling trespass permits was the time they started "this permission deal," (R. 684 pg. 86).

## **II. THE EXISTENCE OF GATES DID NOT QUALIFY AS AN INTERRUPTIVE ACT**

After an extensive search, Wasatch County has found no Utah case law that has held that the presence of gates alone interrupts the continuous use of a road by the public

under the dedication statute. In Wasatch County's search, the significance of an unlocked gate alone as an interruptive force in the context of section 72-5-104 has not yet been addressed by any appellate court in Utah. Some cases have, as pointed out by the Okelberrys, addressed the presence of gates without indicating whether the gates were locked. However, the language of the opinions indicates that likely these gates were in fact locked. *See e.g., AWINC Corp.*, 2005 UT App 168, ¶ 3 (noting that "[t]he gates prevented use" of the road); *Kohler v. Martin*, 916 P.2d 910, 914 (Utah App. 1996) (finding the gate prevented use of the road). A gate that is unlocked hardly prevents the public's access to and use of any particular road.

There are good reasons why the trial court's holding that the presence of gates across these roads did not constitute an interruptive event is correct and should not be disturbed.

A. No Overt Act Was Performed by the Okelberrys

First, as noted by the trial court, there was no overt act of the Okelberrys to place gates across the roads. The evidence at trial was that the boundary gates were already present when the Okelberrys purchased the property. (R. 684 pg. 62-63). Because the gates were already present the Okelberrys did not perform an overt act, a necessary element of the standard set forth by the Supreme Court.

B. The Gates Were Not Intended to Interrupt the Public Use of the Road

Second, the Okelberrys' intent in using the gates was clear at trial. The evidence was that the gates were used to contain livestock. Brian Okelberry testified that the purpose of the gates was to keep the sheep together and on the Okelberry property. Only

after persistent, leading questioning by his own attorney did he agree that perhaps the gates were to control use of the road by the public. (R. 684 pg. 25). Keeping the sheep on the property was necessary because if the sheep were to wander off the property the Okelberrys would be fined by the Forest Service. (R. 683 pg. 135). Lee Okelberry testified that cattle guards were put in because the wire gates would sometimes get cut off or rolled back, indicating that the purpose of the gates was livestock control. (R. 683 pg. 198).

The fact that these gates were for livestock control is further shown by the evidence that the gates were only closed when there was livestock on the property. For instance, Martin Wall testified that “if there was no stock in there [the gates] would be down.” (R. 682 pg. 189). Ed Sabey similarly testified that the gates are not always up and that “once the sheep and cattle is gone [the gates] were hardly put up, ever . . . .” (R. 682 pg. 271, 292). Shane Ford, an Okelberry witness, testified that the gates would be open or closed, depending on which pasture the sheep were in. (R. 683 pg. 232). Lee Okelberry also testified that the gates were not up at all times during the summer. (R. 683 pg. 97). Ray Okelberry testified that the sheep would be on the property from May to June and would return at the end of September. (R. 684 pg. 69-70). Gerald Thompson testified that sometimes the gates were open and at other times they were closed. (R. 682 pg. 244). Brandon Richins similarly testified that sometimes the gates were up and sometimes they were not. (R. 683 pg. 12, 25). The evidence clearly supported the trial court’s holding that the gates were intended to control the livestock and that there was no intent to interrupt use of the road.

C. For the Sake Of Argument, Even if the Gates Had Been Intended to Interrupt Access, They were not Reasonably Calculated to do so.

The gates present during the relevant time periods do not convey or show intent to interrupt the public use of the roads. The gates used were wire fence gates. This type of gate does not send a message to “keep out.” There is a significant difference between a wire gate on a wire fence in rural sheep and cattle country and a wrought-iron gate on a fence around a person’s back yard. Each sends a completely different message. In this case the gates were clearly livestock gates on livestock fences.<sup>1</sup> The message sent by these gates is one of livestock control, not to keep out. Considering that the roads run through sheep country, it would be incongruous to allow wire livestock gates to serve as a reasonably calculated act of interruption. This is even more apparent when put in the proper context. In the thirty plus years that these roads have been used by the public many things have changed. Wasatch County was much more agriculturally based than it is currently. There were fewer people, more farms, and more livestock. People, especially in these outlying areas which are even now considered rural, were accustomed to seeing and using livestock gates. Cattle guards were much less prevalent than in today’s world. A gate simply did not have the same meaning it may have today. And it was in this environment that these roads were dedicated to the public, developing into well-used, continuous, and necessary access to Forest Service and other public lands.

---

<sup>1</sup> It is true that in recent years, the Okleberrys did intend to interrupt public use by closing and locking their gates. They also replaced the wire gate with an iron gate on at least one road (the main road into the property), but this was long after the roads had become dedicated to the public under the statute. It does show that when the Okleberrys did intend to interrupt public use, they knew how to do it.

Further, even currently under Utah Code Ann. § 72-7-106, a county may authorize a person to keep unlocked gates on Class B and D public roads. For a member of the public accustomed to seeing gates across all types of roads, even public roads, the presence of a wire livestock gate across a road in rural livestock grazing areas did not and does not send a message that a person cannot use the road. Even had the Okelberrys intended for the gates to interrupt the public use, they would not have been reasonably calculated to do so.

The trial court properly found that the presence of gates across these roads did not interrupt the public use. They were not an overt act by the landowner, they were not intended to interrupt public use, and, even had they been an act of the Okelberrys intended to interrupt public use of the roads, they were not reasonably calculated to do so.

### **III. THE EXISTENCE OF GATES CANNOT LIMIT THE SCOPE OF WHAT IS DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC**

The Okelberrys also argue that the existence of gates limits the scope of the public road dedication. Their argument is that a road dedication includes a tacit intention of the landowner to give the road to the public. They further argue that the presence of gates limits the amount or the scope of that gift leaving the public only with what was given. As support for this argument they cite the Louisiana case of *Vaughn v. Williams*, 345 So.2d 1195 (La. Ct. App. 1977).

#### **A. This Issue was Not Raised Below**

This argument was not raised or preserved below by the Okelberrys. Because they fail to make either of these showings, this issue should not be considered. *See. DeBry v.*

*Noble*, 889 P.2d 428, 444 (Utah 1995) (holding that arguments not raised below are not considered by the Court).

B. When a Road is Dedicated it Must Become a Complete Public Road.

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